ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JUN - 8 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Calhoun County  
Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

PHILLIP SPEARS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002096  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

TIFFANY L. BUTLER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Did the PCR judge err by finding trial counsel provided effective representation where counsel failed to contemporaneously object to James Bourgeois' tainted in-court identification of Petitioner after he had previously seen Petitioner at a bond hearing, since the issue was not preserved for appellate review, which prejudiced Petitioner?
  
- II. Did the PCR judge err by finding trial counsel provided effective representation where counsel failed to object to the co-defendant's attorney's closing argument that the witnesses were not untruthful, since the alleged victims identified Petitioner as one of the robbers and the co-defendant's attorney vouched for the credibility of the victims, which prejudiced Petitioner?
  
- III. Did the PCR judge err by finding appellate counsel provided effective representation where appellate counsel failed to cite any legal authority in her appellate brief in support of the argument that the trial judge erred by refusing to declare a mistrial based on extraneous and prejudicial information published to the jury during deliberations, since the Court of Appeals deemed the argument abandoned on appeal, which prejudiced Petitioner?

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 27, 2007, a Calhoun County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for armed robbery, kidnapping, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. App. vol. 3, 1233 – 1238. On October 1, 2007, Petitioner's case proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein. App. vol. 1, 1. Charlie Jay Johnson represented Petitioner. Margaret Hinds and Andrew Brown represented Petitioner's co-defendant, Titus Bantan. Karen N. Fryar and Bryan Jeffries represented the State. App. vol. 1, 1.

On October 10, 2007, Petitioner was found guilty and sentenced to thirty years' imprisonment. App. vol. 3, 1111. Petitioner appealed his convictions and sentence.

On June 15, 2011, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction in a published opinion. See State v. Spears, 393 S.C. 466, 713 S.E.2d 324 (Ct. App. 2011). The Remittitur was sent on July 1, 2011. M. Celia Robinson and Breen Stevens represented Petitioner on appeal. App. vol. 3, 1131.

Petitioner filed a PCR application on October 6, 2011. App. vol. 3, 1115. Respondent filed its return on January 18, 2012 requesting an evidentiary hearing. On May 28, 2014, a PCR hearing was held before the Honorable Maité Murphy. Charles T. Brooks, III represented Petitioner. Megan Harrigan Jameson represented the State. App. vol. 3, 1141.

On September 9, 2014, Judge Murphy issued an order of dismissal. App. vol. 3, 1211. Petitioner appealed the judge's order. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

- I. The PCR judge erred by finding trial counsel provided effective representation where counsel failed to contemporaneously object to James Bourgeois' tainted in-court identification of Petitioner after he had previously seen Petitioner at a bond hearing, since the issue was not preserved for appellate review, which prejudiced Petitioner.

### **Relevant Facts**

This case involved the armed robbery of the Bell's Wagon Wheel convenience store in Calhoun County, South Carolina. On the morning of November 6, 2006, two men entered the store and held the owner, James Bourgeois, and other employees on the floor at gunpoint. App. vol. 2, 512 – 513. Natasha Rivers, Cleveland Williams, and Iskier Prezzie were the employees present during the robbery, as well as Rivers' two minor children. App. vol. 2, 521 – 522.

The robbers stole \$200 in cash, around \$580 in rolled coins, and several packs of Newport cigarettes. App. vol. 2, 535, line 13 – App. vol. 2, 538, line 1. After they left the store, Bourgeois called 9-1-1 and officers responded to the scene. Rivers provided the police with a description of the robbers. App. vol. 2, 544, lines 7 – 19. Later that day, Rivers was shown a photographic line-up where she identified Petitioner as one of the men who robbed the store. App. vol. 2, 548, line 25 – App. vol. 2, 552, line 21. She also identified Titus Bantan, Petitioner's co-defendant, as the other robber in a second photographic line-up. App. vol. 2, 553, line 11 – App. vol. 2, 555, line 20.

During the investigation of the armed robbery, police learned of Tanesha Adams, Petitioner's ex-girlfriend. Adams claimed that Petitioner called her the morning of the robbery and asked her whether the convenience store had video cameras. App. vol. 2, 695, lines 12 – 25. Adams also claimed that Petitioner confessed to her that he robbed the store on the morning of November 6, 2006. App. vol. 2, 697, lines 4 – 21.

While the police were at Adams' residence, Adams' brother told police that Petitioner would be at a home on Charlotte Circle in Orangeburg County, South Carolina. App. vol. 2, 734, line 4 – App. vol. 2, 736, line 4. After entering the home on Charlotte Circle, police handcuffed Titus Bantan and located items they thought were taken during the robbery. Petitioner was not present. App. vol. 2, 738, line 7 – App. vol. 2, 741, line 1; App. vol. 2, 743, line 17 – App. vol. 2, 744, line 12. Officers obtained a search warrant for the Orangeburg County residence and located Timberland boots and army fatigue pants which matched the description of the clothing worn by one of the robbers. Officers also recovered \$260, a Coinstar receipt showing that \$300 in coins had been exchanged for cash, and packs of Newport cigarettes. App. vol. 2, 745, line 16 – App. vol. 2, 747, line 15.

Petitioner was arrested on November 9, 2006 in North Carolina. App. vol. 1, 307, lines 7 – 18.

#### **Motion to Suppress Petitioner's In-court Identification**

Prior to trial and pursuant to State v. Simmons, 308 S.C. 80, 417 S.E.2d 92 (1992), defense counsel for Petitioner moved to suppress the in-court identification of Petitioner by James Bourgeois. Bourgeois testified during the suppression hearing. App. vol. 1, 425.

According to Bourgeois, as he was walking out the back door of the store to see whether all of the trash had been loaded onto his truck, a man had a gun pointed at his face. The man, who was standing behind Bourgeois, ordered him to go back inside the store and lie down. App. vol. 1, 425, line 14 – App. vol. 1, 426, line 1. Bourgeois stated that the individual had his cap pulled down to "eyebrow level." App. vol. 1, 429, line 24 – App. vol. 1, 430, line 1.

According to Bourgeois, the man "was about five-ten, five-eleven, slender build." App. vol. 1, 430, lines 12 – 13. Bourgeois stated that the individual "had acne bumps or something all over

his face” and “[k]ind of had a scruffy looking mustache.” App. vol. 1, 430, line 22. Bourgeois admitted that he had his head down as he was being poked with a gun. He also stated that the two robbers “were constantly moving.” App. vol. 1, 435, lines 19 – 24; App. vol. 1, 436, line 2.

Bourgeois claimed that he gave the police a description of what the suspects looked like, but he was never shown a photographic line-up. App. vol. 1, 442, lines 1 – 9.

In April 2007, Bourgeois was notified of a bond hearing for Petitioner at the magistrate’s office. App. vol. 1, 438, line 24 – App. vol. 1, 439, line 1. He claimed that when he saw Petitioner walk through the front door of the magistrate’s office, he recognized him. App. vol. 1, 440, lines 1 – 8. He also acknowledged the fact that Petitioner was being escorted by officers when he walked in and was the only inmate there that day.

Officer Stanley Graham also testified during the suppression hearing. Graham notified Bourgeois of the bond hearing for Petitioner. App. vol. 1, 445. Graham could not recall getting a description of the two robbers from Bourgeois when he responded to the convenience store after the robbery. App. vol. 1, 450, line 23 – App. vol. 1, 451, line 3. Graham also could not explain “why Mr. Bourgeois, if he could identify someone, was not shown a photo lineup.” App. vol. 1, 452, lines 4 – 6.

After the pre-trial testimony, defense counsel for Petitioner argued that the police showed a photographic line-up to the only person who indicated she could identify the robbers – Natasha Rivers. App. vol. 1, 452, lines 20 – 25. Further, any identification made of Petitioner in-court was unduly suggestive. App. vol. 1, 454, line 11 – App. vol. 1, 455, line 3.

The trial judge agreed that “[i]t certainly is suggestive when an individual is going to the courthouse to a bond hearing and they know that, and they know that the person is going to be there.” App. vol. 1, 455, lines 17 – 22. However, the judge considered the fact that Bourgeois had

seen nothing about Petitioner between the time of the robbery and the bond hearing where he “recognized” Petitioner as the man who robbed his store. App. vol. 1, 458, lines 8 – 12.

The trial judge found “the burden which [had] been articulated in the (sic) State v. Ora Simmons [had] been met” and allowed the in-court identification. App. vol. 1, 458, lines 18 – 21.

Defense counsel for Petitioner made no contemporaneous objection during the witness’ testimony identifying Petitioner as one of the men who robbed his convenience store. App. vol. 2, 596, lines 3 – 8. The Court of Appeals found that the issue of the in-court identification was “not properly before [the] court.” State v. Spears, 393 S.C. 466, 480, 713 S.E.2d 324, 331 (Ct. App. 2011).

### **PCR Hearing**

Petitioner testified during the PCR hearing. Petitioner explained to the PCR judge that defense counsel failed to contemporaneously object to the in-court identification of Bourgeois. App. vol. 3, 1154, lines 10 – 12. Because counsel did not object during the witness’s testimony identifying Petitioner as one of the men who robbed the Wagon Wheel, “it wasn’t preserved for direct appeal or review.” App. vol. 3, 1154, lines 18 – 20.

Defense counsel could not recall whether he failed to interject objections during the trial when he should have objected. However, he stated he renewed all of his objections at the end of trial. App. vol. 3, 1179, lines 1 – 9.

### **Order of Dismissal**

The PCR judge denied Petitioner’s application. The judge found that Petitioner was “unable to establish any requisite prejudice from this allegation.” App. vol. 3, 1221. The judge wrote that “[h]ad counsel contemporaneously objected and the issues were preserved for appellate review, the

result would still have been the same – the convictions and sentence would have been affirmed.”  
App. vol. 3, 1221.

### **Discussion**

The PCR judge erred by finding trial counsel provided effective representation. Counsel failed to contemporaneously object to James Bourgeois’ tainted in-court identification of Petitioner after Bourgeois saw him at a bond hearing. Because counsel did not object when the identification was made, the issue was not preserved for appellate review, which prejudiced Petitioner.

A criminal defendant is entitled to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). When a defendant challenges a conviction on the ground that counsel was ineffective, the question becomes, “whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result,” Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686; see Ard v Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007). Pursuant to Strickland v. Washington, a court will conduct a two-prong test when determining whether trial counsel’s assistance was ineffective. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688).

First, an applicant must show that counsel’s performance was deficient. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. In analyzing this prong, a court will use an objective standard of reasonableness. *Id.* Under this prong, “[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688).

Second, the applicant must show that counsel's "deficient performance prejudiced the defendant to the extent that 'there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.'" Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688).

The decision to admit an eyewitness' identification of a defendant is in the trial judge's discretion. State v. Govan, 372 S.C. 552, 643 S.E.2d 92 (Ct. App. 2007). The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that when there has been no out of court identification of a defendant, an *in camera* hearing must be held during which the burden is on the State to establish that the in-court identification was "of independent origin" and not a tainted product of circumstances surrounding a bond hearing. State v. Simmons, 308 S.C. 80, 417 S.E.2d 92 (1992). The in-court identification may be so tainted by the circumstances surrounding a witness seeing the accused as to require that the in-court identification be suppressed. State v. Cash, 257 S.C. 249, 185 S.E.2d 525 (1971).

Here, Bourgeois' in-court identification of Petitioner was severely tainted by the fact that he had seen Petitioner at a bond hearing prior to trial. Bourgeois did not give police a detailed description of Petitioner when they responded to the convenience store minutes after the robbery. Bourgeois never identified Petitioner out of court as the police had never shown Bourgeois a photographic line-up.

Bourgeois did not see Petitioner until the bond hearing at the magistrate's office. Although he testified that he recognized Petitioner when he walked through the door, he was informed of only one bond hearing being held that day. He arrived at the office expecting to see the person who allegedly robbed his store. Bourgeois' in-court identification of Petitioner was not "independent of" seeing Petitioner at the bond hearing and should have been suppressed.

Although counsel made a motion *in limine* to suppress the in-court identification, he did not contemporaneous object to it. Therefore, the issue of whether the trial judge erred by failing to grant counsel's motion to suppress was not preserved for appellate review. See State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001) (“[M]aking a motion *in limine* to exclude evidence at the beginning of trial does not preserve an issue for review because a motion in limine is not a final determination. The moving party, therefore, must make a contemporaneous objection when the evidence is introduced.”). Trial counsel's failure to preserve the issue for appellate review prejudiced Petitioner on appeal. Had the issue been preserved, there is a reasonable probability that the Court of Appeals would have ruled that the trial judge erred by refusing to exclude the in-court identification, reversed Petitioner's conviction and sentence, and remanded for a new trial.

II. The PCR judge erred by finding trial counsel provided effective representation where counsel failed to object to the co-defendant's attorney's closing argument that the witnesses were not untruthful, since the alleged victims identified Petitioner as one of the robbers and the co-defendant's attorney vouched for the credibility of the witnesses, which prejudiced Petitioner.

### **Relevant Facts**

During closing argument, defense counsel for Titus Bantan, Petitioner's co-defendant, argued that Bantan was not a participant in the robbery of Bell's Wagon Wheel. App. vol. 2, 970, lines 4 – 6. Counsel for Bantan argued that the evidence the State presented during trial did not link Bantan to the robbery. Instead, the evidence showed “that Mr. Bantan and Mr. Spears were acquaintances.” App. vol. 2, 974, lines 10 – 12.

Counsel for Bantan, Margaret Hinds, summarized each victim's account of the robbery. Specifically, counsel contended:

“I don't think Mr. Bourgeois would tell an untruth to y'all.”

App. vol. 2, 982, lines 6 – 7.

Counsel also asserted:

“All I'm saying is I don't think anybody's been untruthful in this proceeding, but there was so much happening.”

App. vol. 2, 982, lines 18 – 20.

Counsel for Petitioner, Charlie Johnson, made no objections during closing argument.

### **PCR Hearing**

Petitioner explained that trial counsel “failed to object to [his] codefendant's attorney's closing arguments statement – stating that she doesn't believe that the victim Mr. Bourgeois would tell an untruth to the Court.” App. vol. 3, 1152, lines 2 – 5. Petitioner contended that counsel for

his codefendant, Bantan, “vouched for the credibility of the witness,” and Petitioner’s counsel should have objected. App. vol. 3, 1152, lines 6 – 11.

Counsel for Petitioner could not recall the co-defendant’s closing argument. App. vol. 3, 1181, lines 4 – 6. Counsel stated that he did not think there was anything to object to. By objecting, explained counsel, he “would have called more attention to it, made the jury think about it more.” App. vol. 3, 1181, lines 4 – 13. Counsel did not believe that the co-defendant’s attorney said anything about Petitioner in closing, therefore, he “really didn’t care too much about what she said.” App. vol. 3, 1181, lines 11 – 13.

### **Order of Dismissal**

The PCR judge dismissed Petitioner’s application. The judge found that counsel’s “performance was reasonable according to professional standards.” App. vol. 3, 1219. The judge also found that Petitioner “failed to establish the requisite prejudice required for relief, as there is no reasonable likelihood that the result of the proceeding would have been different.” App. vol. 3, 1219.

### **Discussion**

The PCR judge erred by finding trial counsel provided effective representation. Counsel failed to object to the co-defendant’s attorney’s closing argument that the witnesses were not being “untruthful” in their testimony. Because the alleged victims identified Petitioner as one of the robbers, the co-defendant’s attorney vouching for the credibility of the victims prejudiced Petitioner.

A criminal defendant is entitled to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). When a defendant challenges a conviction on the ground that counsel was ineffective, the question becomes, “whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial

process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result,” Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686; see Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007)). Pursuant to Strickland v. Washington, a court will conduct a two-prong test when determining whether trial counsel’s assistance was ineffective. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688).

First, an applicant must show that counsel’s performance was deficient. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. In analyzing this prong, a court will use an objective standard of reasonableness. *Id.* Under this prong, “[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688).

Second, the applicant must show that counsel’s “deficient performance prejudiced the defendant to the extent that ‘there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.’” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688).

Closing arguments “must be confined to evidence in the record and the reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence.” Vaughn v. State, 362 S.C. 163, 169, 607 S.E.2d 72, 75 (2004); State v. New, 338 S.C. 313, 526 S.E.2d 237 (Ct. App. 1999). It is the province of the jury to assess “the credibility of witnesses based on evidence in the record.” Matthews v. State, 350 S.C. 272, 276, 565 S.E.2d 766, 768 (2002); Gilchrist v. State, 350 S.C. 221, 565 S.E.2d 281 (2002). See State v. Schuler, 344 S.C. 604, 545 S.E.2d 805 (2001) (holding that a solicitor cannot vouch for the credibility of a witness by expressing or implying his personal opinion concerning a witness’ truthfulness.).

Here, trial counsel for Petitioner's co-defendant, Titus Bantan, improperly vouched for the credibility of the victims. Bantan's counsel offered her personal opinion that none of the witnesses were "untruthful" or telling an "untruth," which was highly improper. Natasha Rivers and James Bourgeois both identified Petitioner as one of the robbers during trial. Bourgeois claimed that he was certain Petitioner was involved, even though he never identified Petitioner in a photographic line-up and had seen Petitioner at a bond hearing prior to trial. See Issue I supra.

Further, Bantan's counsel belabored the fact that the evidence presented against Petitioner was greater than the evidence presented against Bantan. Bantan asserted that he did not rob the Wagon Wheel, but was merely an acquaintance of Petitioner. Counsel contended that no evidence linked Bantan to the armed robbery.

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