STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO CALHOUN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Maité Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-002096

RECEIVED

OCT 22 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

PHILLIP L. SPEARS, JR., SCDC No. 297965,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
SC Bar No. 100108
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

and in-court identification. Id. at 489, 744 S.E.2d at 172-73. Subsequently, the petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief, alleging defense counsel was ineffective for failing to contemporaneously object to the introduction of the photographic lineup, show-up, and in-court identifications. Id. at 490, 744 S.E.2d at 173. The post-conviction relief court found that defense counsel was deficient for failing to contemporaneously object because counsel's mistake foreclosed review of the issue on appeal but that the petitioner was not prejudiced by the deficiency because the trial court admitted the identifications after conducting a thorough Neil v. Biggers hearing. In affirming the post-conviction relief court, this Court noted that "the subsequent show-up may be characterized as merely confirmatory and therefore reliable, despite the suggestive procedure." Id. at 494, 744 S.E.2d at 175.

In the present case, similar to Gibbs, the trial court conducted an extensive and thorough Neil v. Biggers hearing to determine if Bourgeois' in-court identification of Petitioner was admissible. After hearing the testimony, the trial court ruled that Bourgeois' identification of Petitioner was reliable, not unduly suggestive, and therefore, admissible. The trial court's ruling was supported by the record and would not have been reversed on appeal. Furthermore, any alleged error in the admission of Bourgeois' in-court identification of Petitioner was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt—including Rivers' properly admitted identification of Petitioner and his co-defendant—and therefore would have been deemed harmless during appellate review. See State v. Simmons, 308 S.C. 80, 83, 417 S.E.2d 92, 94 (1992) ("We note that, under certain circumstances, if the identification is corroborated by either circumstantial or direct evidence, then the harmless error rule might be applicable."); State v. Singleton, 395 S.C. 6,14-15, 716 S.E.2d 332, 336 (finding harmless error in the admission of identification testimony

where two co-conspirators testified against Singleton and identified him as a participant in the robbery).

Additionally, the post-conviction relief court's finding that Petitioner was unable to show any resulting prejudice from trial counsel's failure to contemporaneously object to Bourgeois' identification is supported by ample evidence overwhelmingly showing Petitioner's guilt. See Spears, 393 S.C. 466, 486, 713 S.E.2d 324, 334 (Ct. App. 2011) ("We affirm the trial court's denial of Spears's first mistrial motion as the testimony was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt presented at trial."). In its opinion affirming his convictions, the Court of Appeals discussing the overwhelming evidence presented implicating Petitioner's guilt, including Rivers' testimony that she was one hundred percent certain that Petitioner was the first gunman to enter the Wagon Wheel and Petitioner's confession to Adams shortly after the robbery. There is no reasonable likelihood that the result of the proceeding would have been different—that Petitioner would have been acquitted or that his conviction would have been reversed on appeal—absent trial counsel's failure to contemporaneously object to Bourgeois' identification.

Furthermore, Petitioner's argument that Bourgeois' identification of Petitioner was "severely tainted" because he not give law enforcement a detailed description of Petitioner is a mischaracterization of the record. Bourgeois repeatedly and consistently testified that he described Petitioner in detail to law enforcement and that he would be able to identify him. (App. 436, 442, 444, 626). He specifically identified Petitioner as wearing a gray hoodie, faded blue jeans, and a dark hat that was pulled down to his eyebrows. (App. 429-30, 598-99). He described Petitioner as being between five-ten and five-eleven and between 150 and 160 pounds. (App. 430). He further described Petitioner as having acne all over his face, braids, and a scruffy

looking beard and mustache. (App. 430, 611-12). Bourgeois was never shown a photo lineup by law enforcement, and therefore, his first opportunity to observe Petitioner after the robbery was at the magistrate's office while awaiting a hearing that he was unsure if Petitioner would be attending. Bourgeois was "one hundred percent" certain that the man he identified was the first suspect who entered the store. There is no substantial likelihood that Bourgeois' identification was incorrect, particularly in light of the accuracy of his description to law enforcement, the time he observed

Based on the foregoing, the post-conviction relief court properly determined that Petitioner failed carry his burden of proof, as he did not establish the requisite deficiency or counsel or prejudice entitling him to relief. These findings are supported by ample evidence of probative value and should be affirmed. See Cherry, 300 S.C. at 119, 386 S.E.2d at 626.

II. Is there evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court's finding that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to alleged misattributions of identification testimony during the co-defendant's closing argument, where the argument in question was not improper and there is there is no reasonable likelihood that but for trial counsel's alleged error the result of the proceeding would have been different?

Petitioner avers that trial counsel should have objected to comments made by Bantan's counsel during her closing argument that she did not think the State's witnesses were untruthful. See App. 982 line 6-7 ("I don't think Mr. Bourgeois would tell an untruth to y'all."); lines 18-20 ("All I'm saying is I don't think anybody's been untruthful in this proceeding, but there was so much happening."). Petitioner asserts that these comments amount to Bantan's counsel vouching for the credibility of the State's witnesses and thereby prejudiced Petitioner. Petitioner argues that the post-conviction relief erred in refusing to grant Petitioner relief, as the comments were objectionable and counsel's decision to stay silent prejudiced him. However, this argument is without merit, as the post-conviction relief court properly determined that the comments in question were not objectionable and that Petitioner could not establish any resulting prejudice from these allegedly improper comments—particularly in light of the overwhelming evidence establishing Petitioner's guilt. There is ample evidence in the record to support the post-conviction relief court's findings.

During her closing argument, Bantan's counsel stressed that Bantan was not a participant in the Wagon Wheel robbery and that any evidence linking Petitioner to the trial should not automatically be used by the jury to convict Bantan merely because he and Petitioner were acquaintances. Counsel iterated that Petitioner's co-defendant was "not attached to [Petitioner's] coattails. If you find credible evidence against [Petitioner], hold it against [Petitioner] but don't

use evidence just because you think [Petitioner] is guilty. That does not necessarily mean that Mr. Bantan is guilty.” (App. 970). Bantan’s counsel further stated that she:

Had no doubt that [the] witnesses have tried to the best of their ability to tell y’all what happened and to try to do it with as much clarity as they could.

But the fact is they were taken by surprise; they weren’t expecting this to happen that morning. By their own testimony, everything was happening fast. There’s two robbers jumping around asking questions about a safe, asking questions about a gun, asking questions about a video.

(App. p. 970-71). Regarding Bourgeois’ testimony, Bantan’s counsel stated:

I submit to you in between the day of the robbery and the day he went to that bond hearing, there had been a picture in the paper, front page of the paper listing Mr. Bantan as a suspect and clearly showing his picture. I don’t think Mr. Bourgeois would tell an untruth to y’all. But I submit that that may have influenced the way he recognized Mr. Bantan at the bond hearing.

In addition to that, he, he was there because he had been notified that there was going to be a court proceeding. He knew that Mr. Bantan was going to be there. Did he really recognize him independently from his own memory, or was he influenced by the things that he read?

(App. 982). Regarding witnesses’ testimony, Bantan’s counsel further stated:

All I’m saying is I don’t think anybody’s been untruthful in this proceeding, but there was so much happening. There was so much going on. It is hard to get everything right, but it’s important to get things like a description and the things that are going to matter right.

(App. 982).

When viewing her closing argument as a whole, it is clear that counsel for Bantan was urging the jury to consider all evidence presented by the State, consider the circumstances and surroundings of each witness that shaped his or her testimony or ability to accurately perceive

events, and not to automatically use any evidence tending to establish Petitioner's guilt against Bantan. The closing argument given by Bantan's counsel was proper and did unduly harm Petitioner's case. Furthermore, Petitioner's counsel gave his closing argument *after* Bantan's counsel, affording him an opportunity to respond to any argument made by Bantan's counsel that may have been inconsistent with Petitioner's case theory or defense.

When questioned as to why he did not object to the closing argument of Bantan's counsel, trial counsel responded that he did not feel any portion of it was objectionable. Furthermore, he testified that as a matter of trial strategy, he avoids objecting during closing arguments unless the comment is particularly egregious because he does not want to highlight the objectionable comment to the jury or lose credibility with the jury. This is a reasonable trial strategy, as properly noted by the post-conviction relief court. Lounds, 380 S.C. at 462, 670 S.E.2d at 650 (“[W]hen counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct generally will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel. The validity of counsel's strategy is viewed under an ‘objective standard of reasonableness.’”).

Additionally, the post-conviction relief court properly concluded that Petitioner could not establish the requisite prejudice for relief, as there was no likelihood that he would have been acquitted absent trial counsel's failure to object. As discussed by the post-conviction relief court and the Court of Appeals, there was overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's guilt. Furthermore, Petitioner's argument that he was prejudiced by Bantan's closing argument because “Rivers . . . identified Petitioner as one of the robbers during trial” is completely illogical when considering that Rivers also identified Bantan as the other suspect and positively identified him from a photo lineup. There was more than ample evidence in the record overwhelming establishing

Petitioner's guilt absent these two comments during Bantan's closing, and therefore, there is no reasonable likelihood that Petitioner would have been acquitted absent this alleged deficiency.

Based on the foregoing, the post-conviction relief court properly determined that Petitioner failed carry his burden of proof, as he did not establish the requisite deficiency or counsel or prejudice entitling him to relief. These findings are supported by ample evidence of probative value and should be affirmed. See Cherry, 300 S.C. at 119, 386 S.E.2d at 626.

III. Is there evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court's finding that appellate counsel was not ineffective for failing to cite to any legal authority in support of the argument that the trial judge erred by refusing to declare a mistrial based on extraneous comments overheard by a juror on an unrelated case, where there is no reasonable likelihood that Petitioner would have been successful on appeal and there was overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's guilt?

Petitioner alleges that appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to cite any legal authority in support of the argument that the trial court erred in refusing to grant a mistrial after it was revealed that a juror had heard extraneous comments about Petitioner's possible involvement in another robbery. Petitioner contends that trial counsel properly moved for a mistrial, thereby preserving the issue for appellate review, but that that appellate counsel abandoned the issue by failing to cite to any legal authority to support the argument. See Spears, 393 S.C. at 486, 713 S.E.2d at 334 ("Spears argues the trial court erred in denying his second mistrial motion based on extraneous information published to the jury concerning an unrelated bank robbery. However, Spears's appellate brief fails to cite any legal authority in support of this argument. Therefore, this argument has been abandoned on appeal.") Petitioner asserts that because the Court of Appeals deemed the argument abandoned, he was prejudiced by appellate counsel's failure because "[t]here is a strong possibility that the Court would have agreed with appellate counsel's contention, reversed Petitioner's conviction and sentence, and remanded the case for a new trial." However, this argument is unpersuasive, as there is no reasonable likelihood that Petitioner would have prevailed on his appeal. The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief as to this issue.

"The granting or refusing of a motion for a mistrial lies within the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Kelly, 372 S.C. 167, 170, 641 S.E.2d 468, 470 (Ct.App.2007) (citation and quotation marks

omitted). “A mistrial should only be granted when absolutely necessary, and a defendant must show both error and resulting prejudice in order to be entitled to a mistrial.” State v. Stanley, 365 S.C. 24, 34, 615 S.E.2d 455, 460 (Ct.App.2005) (citation and quotation marks omitted).

3132 “The granting of a motion for a mistrial is an extreme measure which should be taken only where an incident is so grievous that prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way.” State v. Goodwin, 384 S.C. 588, 605, 683 S.E.2d 500, 509 (Ct.App.2009) (citation and quotation marks omitted). “An instruction to disregard incompetent evidence usually is deemed to have cured the error in its admission unless ... it is probable that notwithstanding such instruction or withdrawal the accused was prejudiced.” State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 43, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996). “Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990).

In her brief, appellate counsel raised two issues involving the trial court’s failure to grant a mistrial—first, when Officer Golden improperly introduced testimony concerning .40 caliber bullets, drugs, and a shotgun recovered from the trailer in Orangeburg, and second, when the jury was allegedly improperly influenced by extraneous information regarding another robbery involving Petitioner and Bantan. The Court of Appeals deemed that the second issue regarding the possible improper jury influence was abandoned, but reached a decision on the merits of the first mistrial issue. See Spears, 393 S.C. at 484-86, 713 S.E.2d at 333-34. The Court concluded that any error stemming from the trial court’s denial of the mistrial motion was “harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt presented at trial.” Id. The Court elaborated, “[s]pecifically, Rivers and Bourgeois testified at trial that they were both one hundred percent certain that Spears was the first gunman who entered the Wagon Wheel. In addition, the State

presented evidence that Spears confessed to committing the robbery over the phone to Adams.”

Id.

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